Case 1:24-cv-00311 Document1l Filed 08/05/24 Page 1 of 9 PagelD #: 1

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND

PETER SWORD,
Plaintiff

V. : C.A. No.
Jury Trial Demanded
CITY OF PROVIDENCE, by and through
its Treasurer, James Lombardi III,
Defendant

COMPLAINT

I. Introduction
This is an action brought by Plaintiff Peter Sword against the Defendant City of
Providence, by and through its Treasurer James Lombardi, III (“City”), seeking damages arising
out of the unlawful conduct of the Defendant in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act
(“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §201, et seq. and the Rhode Island Minimum Wage Act (“RIMWA?”),

R.IL.G.L. §28-12-1, et seq.

II. Parties
I. The Plaintiff is a resident of the State of Rhode Island and was an employee of the
Defendant City of Providence within the meaning of the FLSA and the RIMWA.
2. Defendant City of Providence is a municipality within the State of Rhode Island,
with its City Hall located at 25 Dorrance Street, Providence, Rhode Island, and is sued by and

through its Treasurer James Lombardi III.
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III. Jurisdiction

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the Plaintiff’s claims under the FLSA pursuant to
29 U.S.C. §216(b) and supplemental jurisdiction over the Plaintiff’s claims under the RIMWA
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367.

IV. Venue

4. Venue is proper in this Court insofar as a substantial portion of the events or
omissions giving rise to the within claim occurred in Rhode Island in compliance with the
requirements set forth in 28 U.S.C. §1391.

V. Material Facts

5. The Plaintiff has been employed with Defendant City as a firefighter from March
16, 1992 until Plaintiff’s retirement on March 16, 2024.

6. Plaintiffs served the first twenty-two years on the job as a Firefighter/EMT,
before transferring to the fire department’s Fire Investigation Unit in or about 2013 - 2014, and
then became an Arson Investigator in 2017.

7. In March 2019, Plaintiff Sword began working as a canine handler with
Accelerant Detection K9 Wizard, (“K9) a then-2-year old Labrador retriever.

8. At that time, K9 Wizard was one of only two Accelerant Detector K9s in Rhode
Island.

0. At all relevant times, Plaintiff Sword was assigned as an Arson Investigator to
“Grade 1 Firefighter Car 79, which per the collective bargaining agreement had the following

pay scale:

Position 7/1/21 7/1/22 7/1/23 7/1/24
Grade 1 FirefighterCar79 | $ 1,453.332 | $ 1,511.465 | $ 1,571.924 | $ 1,634.801
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10. Plaintiff Sword’s regular work week being assigned to Car 79 was four ten-hour
days per week — Monday, Tuesday, Thursday and Friday - for a total of forty hours per week, as
well as being required to be on call 24/7.

11. Plaintiff Sword did not receive any additional compensation or overtime for his
added duties as a canine handler, yet those duties required Plaintiff to work additional hours each
week beyond his scheduled forty-hour work week.

12. During the entire time Plaintiff was a canine handler, from March 2019 through
March 2024, Plaintiff was not compensated anything additional for his care, maintenance,
exercise, and training of K9 Wizard.

13. Plaintiff received no additional compensation, and was not paid the overtime
owed, for his care, maintenance, exercise, and training of K-9 Wizard on weekdays, weekends
or holidays, from March 2019 through March 2024.

14. The Defendant paid for the K9’s food and veterinarian bills.

15. Plaintiff was responsible for the K9 at all times, with the K9 going home each
night with Plaintiff to Plaintiff’s home, where the Plaintiff continued to care, maintain, exercise,
and train K-9 Wizard.

16. Seven days a week, Plaintiff did care for, maintain, exercise, and train the K9.

This is time for which Plaintiff was not paid, though Plaintiff was performing work-related

duties.

17. Each day Plaintiff spent approximately (70) minutes caring for, maintaining and
training the KO9.

18. Each day Plaintiff spent approximately one (1) to one-and-a-half (1 /2) hours

exercising the K9.
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19. Plaintiff was paid nothing, and no overtime, for his care, maintenance, exercise,
and training with the K9 despite it being work-related duties that the Defendant was aware
Plaintiff was performing.

20. The City’s actions are willful as it knows and is aware that K9 handlers are
required to work for the City’s benefit beyond their regular work schedule, as the City provides
Providence Police canine handlers additional compensation for the care they provide police
canines.

21. The City provided no such additional compensation for the Providence Fire
canine, despite being aware that Plaintiff was performing work-related duties and spending
additional time, for which he was not compensated, in the care, maintenance, exercise, and
training of the K9.

22. Plaintiff’s time spent caring for the K9 is necessarily and primarily for the
benefit of Defendant. Plaintiff is required to have the K9 prepared and ready to go to work
at any moment 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

23. Plaintiff’s on-duty and off-duty time spent caring for the K9 is an integral and
indispensable part of Plaintiff’s activities and job duties as the assigned canine handler.

24. There is no agreement between Plaintiff and Defendant as to the amount of
compensable time Plaintiff would receive for caring for the K9 while on-duty or off-duty.

25. Defendant did not limit or specify the amount of time Plaintiff was to spend
caring for, maintaining, exercising, and training for the K9 while on-duty or off-duty, yet
Defendant required Plaintiff to appropriately care for, maintain, exercise, and train the K9

every day and to have the K9 fit and ready for duty.

26. Defendant is aware that Plaintiff is performing work (i.e. care, maintenance,
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exercise, and training of the K9) while on-duty and off-duty, yet Defendant willfully refuses to

pay Plaintiff for this compensable time, including overtime.

27. Plaintiff’s supervisors and the Defendant were aware that Plaintiff was not being
compensated for the additional time and overtime that Plaintiff worked in his assigned work-related
duties in caring for, maintaining, exercising, and training of the K9 that occurred both on-duty

and off-duty.

28. Defendant has been aware for over three years that Plaintiff is not being paid for
time, including overtime, that Plaintiff spent doing his job duties as the K9’s handler and yet

Defendant has repeatedly and continuously refused to pay Plaintiff for that time, including

overtime.

29. Defendant's refusal to pay Plaintiffs for the additional time spent caring for the
K9 is willful.

30. Defendant willfully violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff an overtime

rate of pay for work he performed in excess of forty (40) hours a week spent caring for the
care, maintenance, exercise, and training of the K9.

31. As a result of the failure to compensate the Plaintiff for care, maintenance,
exercise, and training of the K9, as required by federal regulation, the Plaintiff worked
approximately eighteen (18) hours of overtime each week for which he was not paid.

32. The FLSA and the RIMWA require employers to pay their employees at a rate
not less than one and one-half times (1'%) their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess
of forty (40) in any one workweek. 29 U.S.C. §207(a)(1); R.I.G.L. §28-12-4.1.

33. Further, R.I.G.L. §28-12-4.1 requires that “No city . . . shall employ any

‘“firefighter,” .. . for an average workweek longer than forty-two (42) hours unless the firefighter
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is compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1'%) times his or her regular rate for all hours
worked in excess of forty-two (42) hours based upon an average workweek.” (emphasis added).

34, The FLSA and the RIMWA exempt certain “bona fide executive, administrative,
or professional” employees from its minimum wage and overtime provisions. 29 U.S.C.
§213(a)(1). The exempt and nonexempt status of any particular employee is determined on the
basis of whether the employee’s salary and duties meet the requirements of the U.S. Department
of Labor wage and hour regulations. 29 C.F.R. §541, et seq.

35. The Plaintiff’s job duties were not managerial in nature and he held no authority
to hire or fire other employees. 29 C.F.R. §541.100(a).

36. The Plaintiff’s primary duties were not of “such substantial importance to the
management or operation of the business that [they] can be said to be ‘directly related to

299

management policies or general business operations[,]’”” so as to satisfy the first prong of the
duties test. 29 C.F.R. §541.205(c)(2).

37. The Plaintiff’s primary job duties did not require the exercise of discretion and
independent judgment, with respect to “decisions normally made by persons who formulate
policy within their spheres of responsibility or who participate in this process or who exercise
authority to commit the employer in a substantial respect, financial or otherwise,” so as to
satisfy the second prong of the duties test. 29 C.F.R. §541.207(d)(2)(emphasis added).

38. Despite the fact that the Plaintiff was a non-exempt employee, Defendant City
failed to pay the Plaintiff overtime each and every week since March 2019 as required by the
FLSA and the RIMWA.

39. As stated above, the Plaintiff was regularly required to work in excess of forty

(40) hours per week at Defendant City, despite 40 hours being Plaintiff’s regularly scheduled
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work-week.

40. Defendant City was required to compensate the Plaintiff at a rate not less than
one and one-half (1 '%) times his regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of forty
(40) in a given week.

41. Beginning in or about March 2019 and until summer 2024, Defendant City
failed and/or refused to compensate the Plaintiff at a rate not less than one and one-half (1 /%)
times his regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of forty (40) in a given week.

42. As a proximate result of the Defendant City’s unlawful employment practices,
including, but not limited to, those described herein, the Plaintiff has suffered and will
continue to suffer loss of income, including past and future salary and other harm.

43. As a proximate result of the Defendant City’s unlawful employment practices,
Plaintiff’s retirement pay was not calculated properly to Plaintiff’s detriment, as it should have
included, but for the City’s willful acts, further pay for the additional time and overtime
Plaintiff worked as the Providence Fire Department’s K9 handler from March 2019 through
March 2024.

VI. Claims for Relief

44. The Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in

paragraphs 1 through 43 above as if set forth fully herein.

Count One
Violation of FLSA—29 U.S.C. §207

45. Defendant, by its acts and/or omissions, including, but not limited to, those

described herein, violated the FLSA by failing or refusing to pay the Plaintiff overtime
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compensation for work in excess of forty (40) hours performed in any one workweek, thereby

causing the Plaintiff to suffer damages as aforesaid, for which he is entitled to relief pursuant

to 29 U.S.C. §216(b) and/or other applicable law.

46.

Count Two
Violation of RIMWA, R.I.G.L. §28-12-1, ef seq

Defendant, by its acts and/or omissions, including, but not limited to, those

described herein, violated the RIMWA by failing or refusing to pay the Plaintiff for additional

time and overtime compensation for all work in excess of forty (40) hours performed in any

one workweek, thereby causing the Plaintiff to suffer damages as aforesaid, for which he is

entitled to relief pursuant to R.I.G.L. §28-14-19.2 and/or other applicable law.

VII. Pravers for Relief

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff respectfully prays that this Court grant the following relief:

1.

a declaratory judgment that Defendant City, in the manner described herein,
violated the Fair Labor Standards Act 29 U.S.C. §201, et seq. and the Rhode Island
Minimum Wage Act R.I.G.L. §28-12-1, et seq.

enjoining and permanently restraining Defendant City from violating the Fair Labor
Standards Act 29 U.S.C. §201, ef seq. and the Rhode Island Minimum Wage Act
R.IL.G.L. §28-12-1, et seq.

award the Plaintiff back pay, including incremental increases, and other benefits,
plus prejudgment interest thereon;

recalculate the Plaintiff’s retirement pay with the inclusion of all overtime and other
payments Defendant should have made to Plaintiff but that Defendant willfully
failed to make to Plaintiff in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act 29 U.S.C.
§201, et seq. and the Rhode Island Minimum Wage Act R.I.G.L. §28-12-1, et seq

award the Plaintiff liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §2617(a)(1), 29
U.S.C. §216(b) and R.I.G.L. §28-14-19.2(a);
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6. award the Plaintiff prejudgment interest;
7. award the Plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees and costs of litigation; and,
8. such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

VIII. Demand for Jury Trial

The Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all counts so triable.

IX. Designation of Trial Counsel

The Plaintiff hereby designates Paul Sullivan, Esq., as trial counsel.

PLAINTIFF,
By his attorneys,
SULLIVAN LAW OFFICES, PC

/s/_Paul Sullivan

Paul Sullivan (#5712)
Sullivan Law Offices, PC

33 Broad Street, Suite 302
Providence, RI 02903

(401) 861-9900
psullivan@psullivanlaw.com

Date: August 5, 2024



Case 1:24-cv-00311

JS44 (Rev. 08/18)

DO%W%VEEdSﬁEE/’%Af Page 1 of 1 PagelD #: 10

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS

PETER SWORD

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

DEFENDANTS

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)
Paul Sullivan, Esq.; Sullivan Law Offices, PC
33 Broad Street, Suite 302
Providence, Rl 02903 ; 401-861-9900

NOTE:

Attorneys (If Known)

CITY OF PROVIDENCE,
by and through its Treasurer James Lombardi Il
County of Residence of First Listed Defendant

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only)

O 1 U.S. Government

Plaintiff

O 2 U.S. Government
Defendant

d3 Federal Question

(U.S. Government Not a Party)

O 4 Diversity

(Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)

(For Diversity Cases Only)

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff

and One Box for Defendant)

PTF  DEF PTF DEF
Citizen of This State a1l O 1 Incorporated or Principal Place O4 04
of Business In This State
Citizen of Another State O 2 O 2 Incorporated and Principal Place a5 03as
of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a a3 O 3 Foreign Nation g6 06

Foreign Country

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only)

Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

OTHER STATUTES

3 448 Education

555 Prison Condition

| CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY
3 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY |3 625 Drug Related Seizure 3 422 Appeal 28 USC 158
3 120 Marine 3 310 Airplane O 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 |0 423 Withdrawal
3 130 Miller Act 3 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 0 690 Other 28 USC 157
3 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability O 367 Health Care/
3 150 Recovery of Overpayment | O3 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 3 820 Copyrights
3 151 Medicare Act [ 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 3 830 Patent
3 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability O 368 Asbestos Personal 3 835 Patent - Abbreviated
Student Loans O 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application
(Excludes Veterans) O 345 Marine Product Liability 3 840 Trademark
O 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY
of Veteran’s Benefits 3 350 Motor Vehicle 3 370 Other Fraud M 710 Fair Labor Standards 3 861 HIA (1395ff)
3 160 Stockholders’ Suits 3 355 Motor Vehicle 3 371 Truth in Lending Act 3 862 Black Lung (923)
3 190 Other Contract Product Liability 3 380 Other Personal O 720 Labor/Management 3 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g))
3 195 Contract Product Liability |3 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations 3 864 SSID Title XVI
3 196 Franchise Injury O 385 Property Damage 3 740 Railway Labor Act 3 865 RSI (405(g))
O 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability 3 751 Family and Medical
Medical Malpractice Leave Act
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS |3 790 Other Labor Litigation FEDERAL TAX SUITS
3 210 Land Condemnation O 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: O 791 Employee Retirement O 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff
3 220 Foreclosure O 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act or Defendant)
3 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment O 442 Employment O 510 Motions to Vacate 3 871 IRS—Third Party
3 240 Torts to Land O 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609
3 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations O 530 General
3 290 All Other Real Property O 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION
Employment Other: O 462 Naturalization Application
O 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 540 Mandamus & Other | 465 Other Immigration
Other O 550 Civil Rights Actions
a
m)

560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of
Confinement

3 375 False Claims Act
3 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
3729(a))
3 400 State Reapportionment
3 410 Antitrust
O 430 Banks and Banking
3 450 Commerce
O 460 Deportation
O 470 Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations
O 480 Consumer Credit
3 485 Telephone Consumer
Protection Act
3 490 Cable/Sat TV
850 Securities/Commodities/
Exchange
890 Other Statutory Actions
891 Agricultural Acts
893 Environmental Matters
895 Freedom of Information
Act
896 Arbitration
899 Administrative Procedure
Act/Review or Appeal of
Agency Decision
950 Constitutionality of
State Statutes

[ e o o R |

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)

A1 Original A 2 Removed from O 3 Remanded from O 4 Reinstatedor [ 5 Transferred from O 6 Multidistrict O 8 Multidistrict
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened Another District Litigation - Litigation -
(specify) Transfer Direct File

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

29 USC §201. et seq.

Brief description of cause:

FLSA - Failure to pay overtime and wages - K9 handler

VII. REQUESTED IN

(0 CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION

DEMAND $

CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. JURY DEMAND: X Yes (INo
VIII. RELATED CASE(S) . ‘
IF ANY (See instructions): JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
August 5, 2024 /s/ Paul Sullivan
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE




Case 1:24-cv-00311 Document 1-2  Filed 08/05/24 Page 1 of 2 PagelD #: 11

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of Rhode Island

PETER SWORD

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:24-cv-311

CITY of PROVIDENCE, by and through its Treasurer
James Lombardi lll

Defendant(s)

N N N N N N N N N N N N

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) CITY of PROVIDENCE, by and through its Treasurer James Lombardi lll
City Hall
25 Dorrance Street
Providence, RI

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

Paul Sullivan, Esq.
Sullivan Law Offices, PC
33 Broad Street, Suite 302
Providence, Rl 02903

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ~ CITY of PROVIDENCE, by and through its Treasurer

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:



